IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAN 19 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

BENJAMIN BILLER,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 80, 613

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
Criminal Justice Building
421 3RD Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

ROBERT FRIEDMAN
Assistant Public Defender
Bar # 500674

Counsel for Petitioner

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida, and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the prosecution and appellee in the lower courts. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Benjamin Biller, was charged by Information with carrying a concealed firearm in Count I and carrying a concealed weapon in Count IIs and III (R423).

The case proceeded to a jury trial. The trial court entered an order of acquittal as to Count III only (R430). The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged in the Information as to Counts I and II (R426). Adjudication was withheld and Petitioner was placed on 18 months probation in Count I and a concurrent term of 6 months probation in Count II. As a condition of probation Petitioner was not to use or possess alcoholic beverages during his probationary term (R434-435).

On August 12, 1992, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's condition of probation imposed upon Petitioner that he not use or possess alcoholic beverages during his probationary term. In so holding, the district court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing such a condition of probation even though there was nothing before them which specifically related Petitioner's crime or conduct to alcohol. Judge Anstead dissented without opinion. Biller v. State, 17 FLW D1873 (Fla. 4th DCA August 12, 1992).

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On January 5, 1993, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case and ordered Briefs on the Merits. This Brief follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Deputy Mentzer testified that he was traveling south on I-95 when an 1988 Mustang passed him at a high rate of speed. Deputy Mentzer paced the car at 70 mph. A traffic stop was made as the car exited west on Hallandale Beach Boulevard (R210-211). Petitioner was asked if he had any guns in the car to which he responded "yes." Underneath the driver's seat, there was a loaded Raven .25 caliber automatic pistol ready to fire (R213-214, 216). The gun was in a holster, however, there was not a snap on the holster (R217, 229). There was also a stun gun found under the seat (R217). After Petitioner was placed under arrest, a black handle switch blade knife was found in his right rear pocket (R221).

Benjamin Biller testified that he is the owner and operator of a ten unit family motel in Hallandale (R316). Mr. Biller was first introduced to guns at camp and in the Boy Scouts. He bought his first rifle at age 16 and still shoots at targets on the weekends (R321-322).

On the date of his arrest, Mr. Biller was coming home from his girlfriend's house in Sunrise. Mr. Biller testified that he keeps a gun in his car for protection because he goes to various warehouses for work purposes and he doesn't always know the area (R325-326). Mr. Biller was travelling south on I-95. He got off at Pembroke Road and was pulled over for speeding to which he admitted (R327-328).

The deputy asked him if he had any guns in the car to which

he responded "yes." Mr. Biller testified that the gun was between the seat and the console. The gun was in a holster with the barrel facing the floorboard. The butt of the gun was visible (R330-331). Mr. Biller also testified that the stungun was in the glovebox which he keeps for protection (R332). The pocketknife was given to him by a friend from high school (R336).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A condition of probation must be reasonably related to the offense for which a defendant is convicted and reasonably related to prevent future criminal conduct. Additionally, a trial court can not impose a condition of probation restricting non criminal conduct.

At bar, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that Petitioner was under the influence of alcohol at the time of his arrest for carrying a concealed firearm and carrying a concealed weapon nor is there any evidence in the record that Appellant had a problem with alcohol. Thus, the condition of probation that Petitioner not use or possess alcohol during his probationary term was not reasonably related to his offenses nor was it reasonably related to prevent future criminal conduct by Petitioner.

#### ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS INCORRECT WHEN IT HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A CONDITION OF PROBATION THAT PETITIONER NOT USE OR POSSESS ALCOHOL WHEN THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE WHICH SPECIFICALLY RELATED PETITIONER'S CRIME OR CONDUCT TO ALCOHOL.

The purpose of probation is to rehabilitate the individual while at liberty under supervision. Bernhardt v. State, 288 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1974). A trial court may impose any valid condition of probation which serves a useful rehabilitative purpose. Hines v. State, 358 So. 2d 183, 185 (Fla. 1978). In Rodriguez v. State, 378 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), the Second District Court of Appeal set forth the following test in determining whether a condition of probation is reasonably related to rehabilitation:

determining In whether а condition of is reasonably related rehabilitation, we believe that a condition is invalid if it (1) has no relationship to the crime of which the offender was convicted, (2) relates to conduct which is not in itself criminal, and (3) requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality. People v. Lent, 15 Cal. 3d 481, 124 Cal. Rptr. 905, 541 P. 2d 545 (1975); State v. Livingston, 53 Ohio App. 2d 195, 372 N. E. 2d 1335 (Ct. App. 1976); State v. Means, 257 N. W. 2d 595 (S.D.1977). See Russell v. State, 3342 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

Both the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Wilkinson v. State, 388 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) and the First District Court of Appeal in Cole v. State, 521 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) have followed the test enunciated in Rodriguez, supra in determining whether a condition of probation is reasonably related to rehabilitation. In Cole, supra, the condition of probation that

the defendant not live with his mother was stricken on the grounds that such condition was unrelated to the crime of uttering a forgery and was not reasonably related to future criminality. In Wilkinson, supra, the condition of probation that the defendant not live with a female to whom he was not married or related was stricken on the ground that such condition was not reasonably related to the crime of carrying a concealed firearm.<sup>1</sup>

More specifically, in Stonebraker v. State, 594 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the condition of probation relating to alcohol use or visiting premises upon which alcohol or intoxicants are sold was stricken on the ground that such condition was unrelated to the crime of grand theft. See also, Ford v. State, 556 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (condition of probation that defendant not live with a member of the opposite sex who is not a relative without written permission stricken on the ground that condition was unrelated to drug conviction). In the instant case, the record fails to establish that the condition of probation that Petitioner not use or possess alcoholic beverages was reasonably related to the offenses of carrying a concealed firearm and weapon and reasonably related to prevent future criminal conduct by Petitioner. The consumption of alcohol is not in and of itself criminal.

Oddly enough, in <u>Wiggins v. State</u>, 386 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), a different panel of the Fourth District Court of Appeal followed the test enunciated in <u>Rodriguez</u> by striking a condition of probation which prohibited the defendant from sexual intercourse with someone other than his lawfully married spouse following his conviction for forgery.

There is absolutely no evidence in the record that Petitioner was under the influence of alcohol at the time of his arrest for carrying a concealed firearm and weapon nor is there any evidence in the record that Appellant had a problem with or history of alcohol abuse. At bar, Judge Stone, writing for the Fourth District, applied an incorrect legal standard, i.e. "that the ends of justice are best served by affirming the trial court's exercise of discretion." In so many words, the lower court's decision implies that Mr. Biller should be happy that he was not sentenced to a year in jail for his offenses even though there was nothing in the record before them which related Petitioner's crime or conduct to alcohol. Contrary to the Fourth District's opinion, the ends of justice are not best served by affirming the trial court's exercise of its discretion.

From a legal standpoint as well as a policy standpoint this Court should quash the opinion of the Fourth District, adopt the test set forth in <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>supra</u>, and strike Petitioner's challenged condition of probation.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing Argument and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to quash the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and reverse this cause.