DY7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 8 1993

CASE NO. 80,613

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

BENJAMIN BILLER,

Appellant/Petitioner

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT CRIMINAL DIVISION

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar # 393665
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Attorney for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Benjamin Biller, the criminal defendant and appellant below in the appended <u>Biller v. State</u>, 17 Fla.L. Weekly D1873 (Fla. 4th DCA August 12, 1992), will be referred to as "petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority and Appellee below, will e referred to as the "State" or "Respondent."

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"AB" Petitioner's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Appellant's statement of the case and facts, as it appears in the initial brief, to the extent that the statement represents an accurate, non-argumentative recitation of the proceedings below, and only to the extent necessary for the resolution of the issues raised on appeal. The State accepts the statement subject to the following emphasis and clarifications:

1 . It was about 4 A.M. when Deputy Mentzer stopped the petitioner for traveling 70 mph on I-95. (R 210,251). The officer asked the petitioner if he had any "weapons" in the automobile. (R 251). Petitioner only told him about the gun under the driver's seat. (R 251). Petitioner did not tell him about the stun gun or the switchblade knife he carried on his person. (R 251). The fully loaded gun was found underneath the driver's seat and was not securely encased. (R 214-215,229). The stun gun was found next to the .25 Raven automatic pistol. (R 219). The switchblade, that operated by a button, was found in petitioner's right rear pocket. (R 218). A Fraternal Order of Police badge was found in the petitioner's vehicle. (R 218,225). A scanner as also found in the vehicle, along with a policeman's hat. (R 224,414). The badge, scanner and policeman's hat was not introduced into evidence.

Petitioner's drivers license was expired. (R 220).

2. Petitioner testified that he owns four to five rifles, four shotguns, and a half a dozen pistols. (R 335).

He owns these firearms for self defense. (R 325,346). If he sees a gun that he likes he buys it. (R 347). In fact he does his own reloading and produces his own bullets. (R 352). He testified that he had just recently bought another gun because he likes guns. (R 324).

Petitioner admitted that he was speeding and that he was driving on an expired drivers license. (R 328,335).

3. After sentencing the petitioner, the weapons were forfeited as well as the Fraternal Order of Police Badge and the police officer's hat. The police badge and police officer hat was to be returned to the true owner. (R 414).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The condition that the petitioner not use or possess alcoholic beverages is appropriate where it may be related to past or future criminality of petitioner or where it is used as a tool for rehabilitation. Petitioner was found guilty of carrying concealed weapons. The use of alcoholic beverages and concealed weapons is reasonably related to future criminal activity.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT WHEN IT HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A CONDITION OF PROBATION THAT PETITIONER NOT USE OR POSSESS ALCOHOL WHEN IT WAS REASONABLY RELATED TO FUTURE CRIMINAL ACTIVITY

Petitioner was convicted and sentence for carrying a concealed firearm and weapon. The trial court imposed a condition of probation that petitioner not use or possess alcoholic beverages. Petitioner alleges that this condition was not reasonably related to the crime which the petitioner was convicted -- carrying concealed weapons -- therefore, the trial court erred in imposing this condition. Respondent disagrees.

As the Fourth District Court of Appeals points out a condition of probation is appropriate if it may be related to the past or future criminality of the defendant or where it is used as a tool for rehabilitation. Biller v. State, 17 Fla.L. Weekly D1873 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Petitioner also agrees that a condition of probation may be appropriate if it is reasonably related to past or future criminality. Petitioner cites to Rodriguez v. State, 378 So. 2d 183, 185 (Fla. 1978) wherein the court held that a condition is invalid if it "(3) requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality." (AB 6). Respondent maintains that the use of alcohol as it relates

to the use of guns is reasonably related to future criminal conduct.

In the instant case, the petitioner was speeding down I-95 early in the morning. He did not have a driver's license. He admitted to the police officer that he had a concealed firearm under the driver's seat. However, he did not admit that he had a stun gun and a switchblade knife which were also concealed. The switchblade was on his admitted to keeping these weapons He person. protection. In addition, he admitted that he liked to buy guns and owned at least half a dozen additional hand guns. In fact, he had just purchased another hand gun because he likes guns. (R 324). He even made his own bullets. in the vehicle driven by petitioner was a police badge and policeman's hat which belonged to another person. A scanner was also found in his vehicle.

When the defense counsel objected to the condition regarding the non-use or non-possession of alcohol the trial court stated:

Defense counsel: Your, Honor, I wanted to make an objection to the condition of no alcohol. If I recall, there was some case law that says that's not a legitimate special condition unless in some fashion the offense was alcohol related, and my recollection there was not.

Trial court: You are not quite right. The special conditions of probation have to have a reasonable relation to the offense which occurred. Given the

peculiar circumstances of this particular case, I am of the opinion this gentleman should refrain from the ingestion of any alcohol in order to not be in a position in which his judgment would be impaired which would cause him to repeat the activities for which he now stands convicted which results in impaired judgment under these circumstance.

The Fourth District Court observed that the (R 419-420). petitioner did not have the presentencing investigative report included in the record on appeal. The Fourth District Court did note that a trial court has broad designing conditions discretion in οf probation effectuate a successful probation. However, the Fourth District Court also pointed out that a condition that is so punitive as to be unrelated to rehabilitation must be stricken. Biller, quoting Kominsky v. State, 330 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976).

Petitioner is incorrect when he states that "... the Fourth District, applied an incorrect legal standard, i.e. 'that the ends of justice are best served by affirming the trial court's excercise of discretion.'" (AB 8). Petitioner also borders on hysteria when he says, "In so many words, the lower ocurt's decision implies that Mr. Biller should be happy that he was not sentenced to a year in jail for his offenses even though there was nothing in the record before them which related Petitioner's crime or conduct to alcohol." (AB 8). There is nothing in the record to support such a comment.

Nevertheless, there are some "peculiar circumstances" surrounding this case. Petitioner had three concealed weapons on him when he was stopped. Found in the vehicle was a police badge and policeman's hat which belonged to another person and a scanner. Petitioner admitted that he had just "acquired" another gun because he "just like[s] them." (R 324). If he sees a gun he likes he buys it. 324,347). He admits to owning four to five rifles, four shotguns and at least half a dozen hand guns. (R 335). is so into guns that he loads his own bullets. (R 352). All these guns he says are owned for protection and sports. (R This particular loaded hand gun was located, 325). according to the Petitioner, between the driver's seat and console for easy access. The butt of the gun was sticking out. (R 330-331). The police officer who searched the vehicle testified that the gun was under the driver's seat Neither were secured. next to the stun gun. It is uncontested that the gun and stun gun and switchblade knife were concealed and that the gun was unsecured.

It is apparent that Petitioner's loss of the hand gun in question does not bother him since he has numerous other hand guns to use for protection. In light of the direct correlation between the use of hand guns and alcohol and the Petitioners love of firearms — particularly the concealed kind of firearm — the trial court's ruling was reasonably related to Petitioner's successful completion of his probation.

Petitioner reliance on Stonebraker v. State, 594 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 2nd 1992) is not persuasive. In Stonebraker the trial court only states that the condition was not related to the crime of grand theft for which the defendant was convicted. The case is devoid of the facts which supports the conclusion made in Stonebraker.

In the instant case, the trial court noted that the condition was reasonably related to petitioner's future criminality -- "this gentleman should refrain from the ingestion of any alcohol in order to not be in a position in which his judgment would be impaired which would cause him to repeat the activities for which he now stands convicted." Guns and alcohol do not mix. Petitioner admits to having many more guns at his disposal. Under the circumstances of this case, the Fourth District Court was correct in concluding that "the ends of justice are best served by affirming the court's exercise of discretion."

From a legal standpoint as well as a public policy standpoint this Court should affirm the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing Arugment and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully request this Court to affirm the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.